Chapter Two

Opening of Queen's College (1771-1816)

Classes at Queen's College began on the secorsdidyef No-
vember 1771 at the Sign of the Red Lion taverne fEvern was located at
the northeast corner of French and King Streets, Albbany and Neilson
Streets. Tutor Frederick Frelinghuysen taught allsgroup of students
when the College opened. The number is not kndwhthe graduating
class three years later had one student in it, &atheydt, and the
graduating class the following year had at least §itudents.

Figure 1 Frederick Frelinghuysen

Some of the Trustees may have assisted Frelinghuysth the
teaching. John Taylor (1751-1801) also assisteld thie instruction, per-
haps from the very beginning. Taylor was a clasenoé Frederick Fre-
linghuysen in the class of 1770 at Princeton. Kably began his work
at the Grammar School, which was affiliated withe@®u's Collegé.
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The early curriculum at the College was primadlgssical, as it
was at the College of New Jersey where the tutadsdtudied. The two
lower classes studied Latin and Greek, with soradysof arithmetic and
geometry. The upper classes studied geography,ahahilosophy, math-
ematics, logic, and grammar. The study of natphallosophy, involving
the principles of physics, was taught to every stiicbf the college from
the earliest days of the college, as it was atatiwer colonial colleges.
Although it is not known what textbooks were useuew classes began,
an examination of the books used by the tutorshatQollege of New
Jersey indicates that some astronomy was also ttaeigfiner as a part of
natural philosophy or mathematits.

Frederick Frelinghuysen carried out instructioQaten’s College
until he left to study law, probably by 1773. Hasahen a delegate to the
Continental Congress from 1775 to 1777. He seinethe Continental
Army, rising to the rank of Colonel, and was Mafdeneral of the New
Jersey and Pennsylvania troops in the Western Higed He became a
Trustee of Queen's College as early as 1782, ama ¢hU.S. Senator
(1793-1796Y.

John Taylor succeeded Frelinghuysen as Tutor améined, with
some interruptions until about 1791. In thatalogue of the Officers and
Alumni of Rutgers CollegeTaylor is listed as Professor of Natural
Philosophy and Mathematics at Queen's College B181-Whether he
held the position of Tutor or Professor in his latears at Queen's Col-
lege, he was principally responsible for the woflkthe college during the
first two decades, although he was assisted fort ghwriods by other
tutors.

By 1774 there were about 20 students enrolletleaCollege. At
the first Commencement in 1774, there was a sigglduate. One of the
Trustees, Jacob Rutsen Hardenbergh, presided ftsth€ommencement,
and later signed a diploma with the title President Tem. It appears that
he may have served in that role from time to tinmiluhe became
President in 1788.
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The Revolutionary War began before the next conuement
could be held. The College was suspended in 166 duly 27 to Octo-
ber 21 as students went off to fight in the Watud8nts returned to New
Brunswick for a period, but the College was agaispgended for nearly a
year as John Taylor went off to service in the Gummital Army’

Figure 2 John Taylor

With some help from John Bogart, and perhaps sihylor was
able to keep the College operating intermittentlyiry the war. Near the
end of 1777 John Taylor and a half-dozen studerstsmed their studies at
North Branch, a small community between Readingtod Raritan. In a
short time there were as many as ten students. oAn@ncement was
held in New Brunswick in September 1778. Taylorsvealled back to
military service in July 1779, and John Bogart tdok place at the
College. Bogart had received his degree from Qse€nllege in 1778,
and had been responsible for the Grammar Schodthwlias then in
Raritan®

Some information about the curriculum of the Cgdles obtained
from a letter, which Taylor wrote to Bogart in 17#flving instructions
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about the work of the students. This letter com$irthat natural philos-
ophy was a part of the early curriculum.

“Mr. [Simeon] V[an] arsdalen will return | expeaimetime in August
when you will set him at natural Philosophy. .. Hephemore Class are
reading Euclid. | would advise that they readTheee first Books before
vacation and the third book of Xenophon. | thinwill be best to set them
at Xenophon half the Day. Let their lessons betshod particular
attention paid to grammar. | judge it will be bstonstrue their lessons.
Messrs. [Timothy] Blauvelt, [Jeremiah] Smith, & g Bray should study
whole numbers in arithmetic, and [Daniel] V[an] Wdmgic. | will leave
a compend of arithmetic, with V[an] Wyck. | haysoke to Mr. [Robert]
Eastburn in Brunswick to procure for me three Blankks for them to
write Arithmetic, which you will send for if you phse. Bray is behind in
Euclid, | would therefore advise that he be kept tite whole time while
the others read Xenophon. He has read the thio bbXenophon. |
have spoken to Mr. Brinson to make a blackboard,teve procured
lampblack. You will hurry him on and get Col. Drtadm to paint it, and
keep an account of the expense.

Mr. [Henry] Remsen is reading Geography; | thinkest for him to go
thro it and then review it, and study the Introdet which he omitted
when he began Geography. After he has done wathiehhim study
English Grammar; you will find a Compend[ium] iretbld Chest, or in the
closet. You will make any other additions to iuyshall see fit. For
assistance | would recommend to you Johnston'sdDixty & South's
Grammar. Messrs. Courtlandt [Pierre Van CortlagdiyVilliam] Crooke
are reading Virgil & Greek Grammar. | did not intethey should read
above 3 Eniads before they began to review thedtel® & cicero. V.
Harlegen [John Van Harlingen] & [William] Stewarteareading Greek
Grammar. | would advise to keep them at it uttidly have got it, and then
let the four begin Greek, and review Latin togethBe pleased to hurry

them on in Greek?’

Taylor returned to teach the students at the étldeosummer. In
the spring of 1780, Taylor and the students mowellitistone, and after
more than a year in Millstone, the College returtetNew Brunswick in
May 1781.

The fledgling college continued to struggle far Very existence.
Rev. Jacob Rutsen Hardenbergh, a Trustee and ilmegsupporter of the
college, moved to Kingston, New York, and John dagndeavored to
keep the College going. In October 1782 Taylooreg that there were
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eighteen students in attendance, including tweleshimen. Taylor
became discouraged because his salary was coriderarrears, and by
1784 he left the College and the students dispersétere were no
graduates from the College in 1784, 1785, or 1'786.

In 1786 the Trustees selected Rev. Jacob Rutseterizergh as
the first President of the College. He had beem afrthe founders of the
College, and one of its strongest supporters. fikisCommencement ad-
dress was in 1787, when there was a single gradu@itere were four
graduates in 1788, and ten in 1789. Hardenbengbik at the College
was instruction, rather than administration. Jdhglor returned to assist
Hardenbergh with the teaching, and they were almedwo tutors who
were graduates of the Class of 1789.

Figure 3 Old College Hall

By 1787 the original College Hall at the corner Adbany and
Neilson Streets no longer provided adequate spacéhé College. The
Trustees erected a new College Hall at the junatioldvingston Avenue
and George Street, at the location of the preseniuvhent Square. The
new building, built at a cost £700, was a plain story frame building,
painted white, with two rooms on each floor, orhazgrs only a single
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room on the upper floor. The College and Gramnwo8| moved to the
new building in 17912
Some additional information about the early cudien of the

College is obtained from the set of “Rules and WRagns for the
Government of Queen's College in New Jersey,” winek published and
distributed to the students.

“In the progress through the four different classethe College they [the

students] shall read in Latin, the principal Orati@f Cicero, Virgil, and

Horace; in the Greek Language, they shall read pads of the Greek

Testament as the President and Tutors shall dXectpphon's Cyropaedia,

Homer and Longinus; they shall also read Kenneattigdiities, Logick,

Geography, Rhetoric, Arithmetic, Algebra, Eucliillements of Geometry,

Trigonometry, Navigation and Surveying, Natural &haral Philosophy, and
English Grammar, and composition to be attended tioe respective

classes.l'3

President Hardenbergh died on October 30, 1790 tfa College
entered a difficult period. John Taylor left thellége by 1791, going to
Schenectady to teach at the Union Academy, latéorJ@ollege. Tutors
James Stevenson and Gershom Williams carried on thig teaching.
They were followed in 1793 by Charles Smith, whal lggaduated from
Princeton in 1786¢

In 1794 Rev. Ira Condict was appointed Professdaral Philos-
ophy, and was named President Pro Tem, a posigdmeld for the next
thirteen years. He presided at the Commenceme7®4 when there
were five graduates, and in 1795 when there welsetao graduate$?

Because of difficulties in raising money and obitag a president,
the Trustees considered a union of Queen's Colledd’rinceton College.
After a heated debate at a meeting in October 1#83,Trustees of
Queen's College rejected the proposal for uniorn tinceton by the
narrow vote of nine to eigft.

The negotiations with Princeton College angered @eneral
Synod of the Dutch Reformed Church, which decidsat it would not
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turn over to Queen's College any of the funds tiet been raised to
support a professor of theology. The Synod sule#tuproposed to turn
over these funds if Queen's College moved to JeCslgy The Queen's
College Trustees were adamantly opposed to mowiegQollege from
New Brunswick, but had no other means of providimgy necessary finan-
cial support for the College. At a meeting in Aagli794, the Trustees re-
jected the proposal to move the College, and vatesuispend the oper-
ation of the College after the 1795 Commencerment.

In 1807 the Trustees were able to reopen the @l the basis
of a new agreement, or covenant, with the Gengmab& of the Dutch Re-
formed Church. That agreement still provided fairagle or united insti-
tution for college and theology training. Howewvéprovided that a board
be appointed by the Synod to assume responsiliditghe “Theological
Institution in Queen's Collegé® When the College reopened in 1807, Ira
Condict taught the junior and senior classes. He j@ined in 1809 by his
son, Daniel Condict, who taught the freshman apthemore classes.

It soon became clear that there would not be @afft space in the
College Hall at Livingston Avenue and George Stteaheet the needs of
the College, Grammar School and the anticipatekwbthe Theological
Seminary. The Trustees selected the site of tagept Queen's Campus as
the location for a new building. The new buildi@d Queen's, would ac-
commodate the Grammar School, the College and ke®ldgical Sem-
inary that would come into being with the appointrinef a professor of
theology. Provision was made in the two wings &f Queen's for apart-
ments for two faculty members, but there were mwvigions for living
quarters for students. The cornerstone of Old @aegas laid in April
1809. By the fall of 1811 the main structure haérbcompleted, and the
College moved from the College Hall on George $trieethe new
building. The total cost of the building was ab880,000 by the time it
was completed in 1825. Funds for the building weaised by sub-
scription, borrowed from a bank in New Brunswickdasecured by a
lottery that had been authorized by the State lagie. This building,
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Old Queen's, still stands, and is a focal poirthefUniversity, housing the
office of the Presiderif

Figure 4 Old Queen’s Building

In 1810 the Trustees appointed Rev. John Livingst® President
and Professor of Theology. Livingston had beentdPasf the Dutch
Reformed Church in New York City since 1770, andf&sor of The-
ology in New York City since 1784. Because of &tlvancing age, 64, it
was agreed that his responsibilities at Queen'te@oiwvere to be limited
to presiding at commencement and authenticatingiaffdocuments, and
that he would only take general responsibility floe college as his time
and health would allow. Livingston carried on mstion of theology
students until his death in 1825, but his serviessPresident were
minimal 2°

As the number of students at the College increaded Trustees
sought a professor of mathematics. Until 1809hed|subjects at the Col-
lege were taught by a tutor or professor, who taaghentire class (or all
the classes in the beginning). The first ProfesfoMathematics was
Robert Adrain, a distinguished mathematician. Hes Wworn in Ireland in
1775. As he grew up, he was viewed as a geniusthédage of sixteen,
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following the death of his parents, he opened aalch He became
involved in the Irish Rebellion at the end of tlentry and was wounded.
He escaped and made his way to this country, rsgtih Princeton. He
was appointed a master at the Princeton Academystayed there until
1800, when he moved to Pennsylvania where he befameipal of the

York County Academy*

Figure 5 Robert Adrain

The first American mathematics journal, tlathematical Corre-
spondentwas published in 1804, and Adrain became on&sahain con-
tributors. A year later Adrain moved to ReadingnRsylvania, to become
Principal of the Academy there. He continued tblish in theMathe-
matical Correspondeneand became editor of the journal in 1807. Attha
time there were, perhaps, only two mathematicianthe country doing
work of international standing, namely Adrain andtianiel Bowditch.
Bowditch, like Adrain, was a self-taught mathematic Bowditch was
famous for hisNew American Practical Navigatgil802), and later his
translation of Laplace$raite de Mécanique Célesteompleted in 1818.
In 1808 Adrain tried publishing his own mathemajmsrnal, theAnalyst
or Mathematical MuseumThere were so few creative mathematicians in
the United States, that publication of the jourealded after a year.
Adrain’s first papers in thglathematical Correspondemcluded work on

ZDemarestA History of Rutgers Colleg@19.

14



Opening of Queen's College (1771-1816)

Diophantine algebra (rational solutions to polynaingquations), and on
the normal law of errors, one year before Gausssplte of Adrain's pri-
ority, it is Gauss who has received credit for thigortant statistical
contribution.

Adrain accepted a position as Professor of Mathiemat Queen's
College and began to teach at the College on Deseffly 1809. In ad-
dition to his fields of specialization, Adrain gausstruction to the two
upper classes in all subjects except moral philegagnd composition,
which Condict continued to teaéh.

While at Queen's College Adrain calculated theemat for The
Gentlemen's Diary and Almané&ar the year 1811. He continued teaching
at Queen's College until he left for Columbia Cg#lan 1813, notwith-
standing Queen's College's best efforts to retam Wt Columbia, Adrain
tried again to publish th&nalystin 1814, but only one issue appeared. In
1818 Adrain published a paper “Investigation of thgure of the Earth
and of the Gravity in Different Latitudes,” and ailnted a value of 1/319
for the ellipticity of the Earth, a figure bettdran that given by Laplace.
Adrain later realized that th&nalysthad been too high powered for the
mathematicians in the United States, and in 182%puidished a lower
level publication, theMathematical Diary When he left Columbia, the
publication continued under the editorship of JaRgsn. Adrain became
a member of the American Philosophical Society &mel American
Academy of Arts and Sciences, and he was respenfbla new edition
of a standard work in mathematics to be used dgge$ and schools. His
appointment in 1809, brought to Queen's College ohethe few
mathematicians of distinction in the United Stétfes.

Some interesting information about the curriculanQueen's Col-
lege is contained in a letter written in 1878 byll\atin Blauvelt, class of
1814.

“As to our course of study, we had Morse's 2 vblGeography, some

orations of Cicero, Sallust, Horace, Cice®Oratore in Greek,

Xenophen'€yropedraand Homer'sliad. Hutton'sMathematicavas

the book which we studied under Dr. Adrain but admirable
Professor taught us many things orally, indeedygiigrg pertaining to
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trigonometry, surveying and nautical astronomygtduhem so that
only the dunces and idlers could fail of undershag1c|i1em.’24

Hutton'sMathematicswas originally published in London, and revised by
Adrain in 1812. It included mathematical topics algebra, geometry,
plane and spherical trigonometry, as well as pBysapics including
Newton's laws, gravity, and hydrostatics. It wasexcellent book with
equations, exercises, and probléthsBlauvelt also wrote that there was
hardly any chemistry taught, and that there waspparatus of any kind.
He indicated that President Livingston felt tharthhad been no advances
in science and learning since he had graduated freiden (about 1770).
Blauvelt wrote that his class of eight studentss Wee largest that took the
full course of study, and that few of the graduaiéshe time could be
admitted beyond the second year in 1878.

Notwithstanding President Livingston's view thatre had been no
advances in science since the time of the foundin@ueen's College,
there had been a number of significant advancemr # the opening of
Queen's College, Benjamin Franklin showed in 1T&0 lightning was an
electrical discharge. Leonard Euler presented/isbla general treatment
of the motion of rigid bodies, including the motiaf the Earth, and
Antoine Lavoisier is credited with founding modezhemistry in 1769
with his quantitative measurements. Luigi Galvabserved the con-
nection between electricity and muscle action i@11And in 1798 Henry
Cavendish determined the mass of the earth by megsthe force of
gravity between two small masses and two large @sas#\Iso in 1798,
Count Rumford (Benjamin Thomson) described his erpnts with
boring holes in cannons that showed that the icalbeory of heat could
be true, and that heat should be considered ad{imabtion. Alessandro
Volta described his invention of the electric batten 1801, Thomas
Young published the first of three pivotal paperplaining his wave
theory of light in 1802, and in 1807 Young was finst to introduce the
concept of energy and to use that word. After Ygsimmportant work,
Hans Christian Oersted published, in 1820, hisifigcbf the connection
between electricity and magnetism.
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While physics was advancing, principally in EuroQaieen's Col-
lege was struggling for its existence. It had beemmon for the colonial
colleges to raise money by lotteries. In 1812 3kette Legislature autho-
rized the Trustees of Queen's college to condlmitery to raise $25,000.
The authorization stipulated that the College weaisse its portion of these
funds for “the finishing of their new college ed#i, and the purchase of a
library and philosophical apparati€.” This specification indicated the
importance that was placed on providing physicsaegtps for the College
instructional program. In 1813 Adrain was ableuse a portion of those
funds to purchase “philosophical apparatus,” whictiuded two globes, a
quadrant, surveying equipment, magnets, and a pfism

The College Faculty suffered a loss with the dediiha Condict in
June 1811, followed, in August, by the death ofdus, Daniel Condict.
Ira Condict had been performing the duties of ed, while Livingston
concentrated on teaching theology students. Aftgear and a half, Ira
Condict was succeeded by Rev. John Schureman, adgraduated from
Queen's College in 1795. Schureman was appointee-Rfesident and
Professor of Languages at the Coll&Ye.

When Adrain left the College to go to Columbiali@1l3, Henry
Vethake was chosen to succeed him. Vethake hatuaed from Co-
lumbia in 1808, and became an instructor there.18h3 he came to
Queen's College as Professor of Mathematics anagr&ld&hilosophy, and
later he also taught languages for a time. In N8dfhake went to Prince-
ton as Professor of Mathematics and Natural Phplogoand as Professor
of Chemistry for a year. In 1821 Vethake move®ickinson College, re-
turning to Princeton again in 1830. In 1832 Veth&t Princeton again,
moving to New York University. He was replacedPainceton by Joseph
Henry, one of the great American ScientfStsVethake subsequently held
various positions at Washington College, UniversityPennsylvania, and
the Philadelphia Polytechnic. He died in 1866. w#s an author and ed-
itor of distinction. Although Adrain and Vethakeld their positions for
relatively short periods of time, they were distirgped academic ap-
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pointments. Their appointments demonstrate theoitapce that was at-
tached to physics as a part of the College cunriodf

Figure 6 Henry Vethake

From 1809 to 1816 there were 3 to 10 graduatesy@ar from
Queen’s College. By 1814 it was obvious that taengaigns to raise
funds for the new building and for the theologyfpssorship had fallen
short of their goals. In 1816 the financial repsinbwed that there had
been an annual shortfall of $4,000 in the operatindget. Other debts
incurred in connection with the new building amathto over $7,000.
The Trustees did not see any way to eliminate theskcits, and
concluded that instruction at the College shoulgimspended. The Board
voted in September 1816 to suspend operation afdhege, and the final
commencement was held. The College Building, Qléép's, was turned
over to the General Synod for the use of the Thggodd Seminary, which
continued its instruction, while one room was resdrfor the Grammar
School. Instruction at the College did not resumgl 18253
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